#### Appeal Nos. 23-CF-286 & 23-CF-287

### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 12/11/2023 05:13 PM Filed 12/11/2023 05:13 PM

Appellant,

RONALD PERRY BERTON,

v.

#### UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, CRIMINAL DIVISION

Nos. 2016-CF1-017914 & 2019-CF1-003141

## **Brief of Appellant Ronald Perry Berton**

#### HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP

Steven D. Gordon (D.C. Bar No. 219287)
Sean Belanger (D.C. Bar No. 1766410)\*
Nicholas Dellefave (D.C. Bar No. 90001917)
Richard Ariel (D.C. Bar No. 1782386)
800 17th Street, N.W., Suite 1100
Washington, D.C. 20006
steven.gordon@hklaw.com
sean.belanger@hklaw.com

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This consolidated appeal is from final judgments of conviction entered against Mr. Berton in Superior Court Case Numbers 2016-CF1-017914 ("2016 case") and 2019-CF1-003141 ("2019 case"). Mr. Berton was sentenced in both cases on March 17, 2023. Notices of appeal were timely filed on April 10, 2023.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether the Government violated Mr. Berton's speedy trial rights under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers ("IAD") when it waited 143 untolled days after his transfer to the District of Columbia to commence trial, exceeding the 120-day time limit established by Article IV(a) of the IAD.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred by admitting evidence of two unrelated offenses at the third trial of the 2016 case.
- 3. Whether the Government violated Article V(d) of the IAD and Mr. Berton's right to a speedy trial by continuing to detain Mr. Berton in the District of Columbia after the 2016 case should have been dismissed pursuant to the Article IV(a) of the IAD, and then bringing him to trial on the charges in the 2019 case in 2023.

4. Whether Mr. Berton's convictions for assault with intent to commit first degree sexual abuse and attempted first degree sexual assault in the 2019 case merge with his conviction for first degree sexual abuse.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This consolidated appeal involves two cases in which Mr. Berton was charged with sexual assaults that occurred in the complainants' apartments: the "2016 case" or "S.N. Case" and the "2019 case" or "A.W. Case."

Following his indictment in the 2016 case, Mr. Burton was brought to the District of Columbia for trial pursuant to the IAD. After an abortive trial in July 2017, the case was eventually tried to verdict three times. Following the first full trial, the jury acquitted Mr. Berton of first-degree burglary and robbery but hung on charges of sexual assault and kidnapping. The second trial again resulted in a hung jury on the assault and kidnapping charges. At the third trial, unlike the first two, the court permitted the Government to introduce evidence of two other offenses allegedly committed by Mr. Berton, and he was convicted.

Thereafter Mr. Berton was brought to trial on the 2019 case (which had been one of the other crimes admitted at the final trial of the 2016 case) and he was convicted.

Mr. Berton was sentenced in both cases to life imprisonment without parole.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### I. The 2016 Case

On November 1, 2016, Mr. Berton was indicted for one count of first degree sexual abuse, one count of first degree burglary, one count of kidnapping, and one count of robbery arising out of an incident that occurred in the early morning hours of October 6, 2007, and involved complainant S.N.

#### A. The IAD Issue

On November 11, 2016, the U.S. Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia ("USAO") lodged a detainer with Sussex II State Prison in Waverly, Virginia, where Mr. Berton was then being held. (App. at 001.) On November 15, 2016, Mr. Berton executed a Request for Disposition of the D.C. charges. (*Id.* at 010.) On November 21, 2016, Virginia's Department of Corrections ("DOC") sent a letter to the USAO notifying it of Mr. Berton's Request for Disposition. (*Id.*) The DOC's letter with Mr. Berton's Request for Disposition arrived and was x-rayed in the Department of Justice mailroom on December 5, 2016, and was stamped "received" by the USAO on December 6, 2016. (App. at 016; *id.* at 010) The USAO did not respond to the DOC's letter or Mr. Berton's Request for Disposition. (*Id.* at 037-51.)

Meanwhile, on December 5, 2016—one day before the USAO received Mr. Berton's Request for Disposition—the USAO petitioned the Superior Court for a

writ of habeas corpus *ad prosequendum* for Mr. Berton. (App. at 002.) On December 7, 2016, the Superior Court issued the requested writ. (*Id.* at 033.) Mr. Berton was thereafter transferred to the District of Columbia pursuant to the writ and delivered into the District of Columbia's custody on January 11, 2017. (App. at 002; *id.* at 037-51.)

Mr. Berton was arraigned on February 15, 2017, and agreed to toll the 100-day trial limit of D.C. Code § 23-1322 on February 17, 2017, for plea negotiations. (2/17/17 Tr. at 3:1-7.) The negotiations were unsuccessful, and at a status hearing on March 30, 2017, the parties agreed to a trial date of July 5, 2017. (3/30/17 Tr. at 2:19-3:2.) This trial date was selected to comply with D.C. Code § 23-1322; the IAD was not discussed. (*Id.*)

On June 2, 2017, at a status hearing, Mr. Berton's counsel specifically asserted his right to a speedy trial under the IAD, which imposes a 180-day time limit for prisoner-initiated transfers under Article III and a 120-day time limit for prosecution-initiated transfers under Article IV. (6/2/17 Tr. at 22:23-23:8.)

On June 7, 2017, the USAO requested a continuance of the trial, which the trial court granted over Mr. Berton's objection, setting trial for July 20, 2017.

Once again, the focus was on complying with D.C. Code § 23-1322. (6/7/17

Motion to Continue Trial; 6/14/17 Tr. at 39:1-2.) On June 27, 2017, Mr. Berton

filed a motion to dismiss the indictment for failure to provide a speedy trial pursuant to the IAD. (App. at 001-10.)

On June 30, 2017, the trial court heard argument on Mr. Berton's motion and denied it. The court found that the 180-day time limit of Article III for prisoner-initiated transfers, rather than the 120-day limit of Article IV for prosecution-initiated transfers, governed the time to bring the matter to trial, that the time to commence trial had not expired under either Article, and that the continuance of the trial date (to July 20, 2017) granted on June 14, 2017, had been a "good cause" continuance under the IAD. (App. at 020-21.)

The case was thereafter transferred to another judge before whom the parties appeared on July 13, 2017, to discuss the IAD trial deadline. Counsel for both parties agreed that the 180-day deadline, if applicable, would expire the following day. (7/13/17 Tr. at 4:9-7:17.) In response, the court commenced trial that same day by selecting a jury. (*Id.* at 12:11-15:22.) However, after the USAO notified the defense of the existence of previously-undisclosed evidence containing biological material, trial was continued to allow time for DNA testing. (7/24/17 Consent Order.)

Thereafter Mr. Berton continued to press his IAD claim. On September 21, 2017, defense counsel filed a motion for the trial court to consider three *pro se* submissions by Mr. Berton relating to the IAD issue. (9/21/17 Motion for

Consideration of *Pro Se* Submissions.) On September 26, 2017, the trial court denied Mr. Berton's motion without prejudice. (9/26/17 Order.) Mr. Berton filed additional *pro se* motions for reconsideration of the IAD speedy trial issue and, on January 8, 2019, he filed (through counsel) a renewed motion to dismiss the indictment based upon the IAD. (12/18/18 Motion for Reconsideration; 1/8/19 Renewed Motion to Dismiss.) On January 31, 2020, the trial court indicated it "will not revisit or address the IAD motion any further due to it being preserved for appeal." (App. at 082-84.)

#### B. The First Full Trial

The first full trial occurred in May 2018. During that trial, the complainant S.N. testified that, in October 2007, she had returned to her apartment after a night out drinking with friends, had fallen asleep and awoke to a stranger in her apartment who sexually assaulted her. (5/8/18 Tr. at 51:6-70:15.) She could not identify her assailant. The Government presented DNA evidence that showed Mr. Berton had intercourse with S.N. that night. (*See, e.g.*, 5/10/18 Tr. at 536:19-20.)

S.N. testified that there were three doors/gates that needed to be opened to get into her apartment:

- 1. a wooden gate with an automatic locking mechanism,
- 2. a metal security gate with a manual lock, and

3. a door directly to her apartment which had a lock on the knob mechanism and a deadbolt lock.

(5/8/18 Tr. at 91:4-105:13.) S.N. testified that she could not close her wooden gate that night because it was raining. (*Id.* at 63:23-64:4.) She also stated: "I do remember wondering how he got in and wondering if I had not properly locked up that night." (*Id.* at 102:22-105:13.) In closing argument the Government stated: "[S.N.] forgot to lock her doors . . . ." (5/14/18 Tr. at 171:14-16.)

Mr. Berton presented no evidence. The defense did not contest the fact that Mr. Berton had intercourse with S.N. Instead, it argued that the evidence was consistent with a consensual encounter. (*Id.* at 117:22-148:12.) The defense argued that there was no evidence showing that Mr. Berton's entry into S.N.'s apartment was forced or unauthorized and insufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Berton's encounter with S.N. was forced. (*Id.*)

The jury acquitted Mr. Berton of burglary and robbery but was unable to reach a verdict on the sexual abuse and kidnapping charges.

#### C. The Second Trial

In February 2019, the Government retried Mr. Berton on the sexual abuse and kidnapping charges. It was a reprise of the first trial. The Government again relied primarily on S.N.'s testimony and DNA evidence. Again, S.N. testified that she couldn't close the wooden gate and she didn't remember if she locked the other

gates and doors. (2/6/19 Tr. at 178:5-12, 243:23-250:3; 2/7/19 Tr. at 42:8-46:6, 51:18-24.) Again, the Government argued in its closing that S.N. forgot to lock her doors that night. (2/12/19 Tr. at 184:9-16, 189:12-190:25.) Again, the defense presented no evidence and argued that the Government's evidence was consistent with a consensual encounter. (*Id.* at 150:16-178:10.) Again, the jury hung on the sexual abuse and kidnapping charges.

#### D. The Decision To Admit Other Crimes Evidence

The Government decided to change tack for the third trial after it indicted Mr. Berton in March 2019 for the sexual assault of complainant A.W., which had occurred in her D.C. apartment on June 12, 2010, approximately two-and-a-half years after the S.N. incident. It moved to admit evidence of the A.W. offense at the S.N. trial. It also moved to admit evidence of a September 10, 2008 daylight burglary of Z.N.'s Arlington, Virginia apartment during which the perpetrator touched Z.N.'s buttocks and masturbated into a condom. (3/29/19 Motion to Admit Other Crimes Evidence at 9.) The Government argued the A.W. evidence was admissible under the intent exception established by *Drew v. United States*, 331 F.2d 85 (D.C. Cir. 1964) because Mr. Berton's defense of consent placed his intent to use force at issue. (Id. at 11-19.) The Government argued that evidence of the Z.N. offense was admissible under the *Drew* knowledge and intent exceptions because, (1) it demonstrated Mr. Berton's intent to use force in

connection with a sexual act; and (2) "the defendant's act of unlocking Z.N.'s locked door demonstrates that he knows how to gain entry by stealth without leaving signs of forced entry." (*Id.* at 9; *see also id.* at 17-18.)

The defense opposed the admission of this evidence because, *inter alia*, (1) the A.W. and Z.N. offenses were subsequent to and factually dissimilar from the S.N. incident; (2) the Z.N. offense was not admissible under the knowledge exception because the Government could not establish that S.N.'s doors were locked; and (3) the probative value of the A.W. and Z.N. offenses was substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. (*See generally* 7/26/19 Opposition to Motion to Admit Other Crimes Evidence; *see also* 11/18/19 Resp. to Motion in Limine Regarding Admission of Prior Crimes Evidence.)

The trial court ruled that the A.W. evidence was admissible to establish Mr. Berton's intent to use force against S.N. if he presented a consent defense. (App. at 056-58.) The court also ruled that Mr. Berton's statement regarding the Z.N. incident that "[t]he door was locked and I unlocked it" was admissible as proof that Mr. Berton was able to enter S.N.'s locked apartment without leaving signs of having done so through force. (*Id.* at 062-67.) The court, however, found that evidence regarding the touching of Z.N.'s buttocks and the masturbation was not admissible to show Mr. Berton's intent to use force in the S.N. incident. (*Id.* at 059-63.)

Thereafter, the Government filed a motion in limine seeking to admit all of its available evidence relating to the A.W. and Z.N. offenses. (11/4/19 Motion in Limine Regarding Admission of Prior Crimes Evidence.) The defense attempted to limit the amount of this evidence and the manner in which the Government could present it. The defense argued that the A.W. evidence should be limited to A.W.'s testimony and the DNA evidence linking Mr. Berton to that offense. It argued that testimony from witnesses to whom A.W. reported the assault and testimony that the assailant stole A.W.'s phone was irrelevant and highly prejudicial and should be excluded. The defense argued that the Z.N. evidence should be limited to establishing that "[o]n September 10, 2008 the defendant stated to a person: 'The door was locked and I unlocked it.' The lock at issue was a door-knob lock." (See generally 11/18/19 Resp. to Motion in Limine Regarding Admission of Prior Crimes Evidence; 1/21/20 Resp. to Motion in Limine Regarding Admission of A.W. Prior Crimes Evidence.)

The trial court rejected the defense's arguments. With respect to the Z.N. offense, it reasoned that the jury would need more context and ruled that the Government could present evidence that Mr. Berton's statement about being able to unlock doors came after he had entered Z.N.'s apartment without her authorization. (App. at 076.) With respect to the A.W. offense, it ruled that the Government could present testimony about A.W.'s report of the assault, the crime

scene investigation, and evidence that the assailant took A.W.'s phone, which was later used to call an acquaintance of Mr. Berton. (App. at 077-81.) Although the trial court acknowledged that A.W.'s credibility was not directly at issue and there was a risk of unfair prejudice, it permitted the introduction of the evidence regarding the telephone because the defense intended to challenge the reliability of the DNA evidence relating to A.W. (*Id.*)

#### E. The Third Trial

At the third trial, the Government reprised the evidence it had presented at the first and second trials. S.N. again testified that she couldn't close the wooden gate and she didn't remember if she locked the other gates and doors. (3/2/20 Tr. at 180:15-181:12, 204:5-21, 245:22-246:18, 247:23-248:14; 3/3/20 Tr. at 20:6-12, 24:12-25:10.)

In addition, the Government now presented a parade of twenty witnesses to testify about the other two offenses. It essentially presented its entire case about the A.W. sexual assault, calling twelve different witnesses:

1. A.W., who described her assault in detail, including her struggle with the assailant, the pain she suffered after the assault, and the fact that her phone was missing after the assault (3/9/20 Tr. at 24:11-58:14);

- 2. James Casar, a D.C. firefighter technician who testified S.N. came to the fire station to report an "assault and break in" (3/5/20 Tr. at 45:21-52:24);
- 3. Vandra Turner-Covington, a detective with the Metropolitan Police Department ("MPD") at the time of the A.W. assault, who was supposed to limit her testimony to the fact that A.W. reported a sexual assault but instead testified in detail that the assailant "pinned [A.W.] to the bed, a struggle ensued and at some point defendant's penis was out and he digitally penetrated her vagina with his fingers" (*Id.* at 53:16-65:25);
- 4. Thomas Coughlin, a MPD Detective who testified that they collected DNA from A.W. (*Id.* at 66:7-72:25);
- 5. Elbert Griffin, another MPD Detective who testified that they collected DNA from A.W. (*Id.* at 74:22-78:5);
- 6. Amy Jeanguenat, a DNA casework analyst at Bode Technology who examined the DNA test results pertaining to fingernail swabs taken from A.W. (*Id.* at 66:5-116:6);
- 7. Kimberly Freeman, a DNA technician at Bode Technology who examined the DNA test results pertaining to the fingernail swabs taken from A.W. (*Id.* at 116:20-126:9);

- 8. Daniel Watsula, a DNA casework analyst at Bode Technology who performed DNA testing on A.W.'s fingernail swabs (*Id.* at 126:19-130:25);
- 9. Lyndsey Sanney, a DNA casework analyst at Bode Technology who examined the A.W. known sample (*Id.* at 131:3-134:10);
- 10. Christina Nash, the reporting analyst on the testing of the known sample taken from A.W. (*Id.* at 134:18-140:24);
- 11. Carmela Caravello, an AT&T records custodian who testified that A.W.'s telephone called a telephone number belonging to one of Mr. Berton's acquaintances (3/10/20 Tr. at 27:17-36:12.);
- 12. Taylor Greer, the acquaintance, who confirmed that it was his phone number called from A.W.'s telephone (*Id.* at 36:23-41:23).

The Government also called eight witnesses to testify about the Z.N. offense:

1. Z.N. who testified that on September 10, 2008, at about 9:40 a.m., an uninvited stranger entered her apartment and informed her "he came in through the door, which was locked, and he unlocked it." She testified that after the man left, she called the police who investigated the break in (3/9/20 Tr. at 149:18-154:15);

- 2. David Avery, an Arlington County Police Detective who testified about his investigation of the break-in to Z.N.'s apartment (*Id.* at 154:23-158:10);
- 3. Michael Austin, an Arlington County police officer who collected buccal swabs in the Z.N. case (*Id.* at 158:15-161:19);
- 4. Jennifer Nelson, a forensic scientist for the Virginia Department of Forensic Science, who performed testing of evidence relating to the Z.N. case (*Id.* at 161:24-195:1);
- 5. Michael Pochatek, a laboratory specialist at the Virginia Department of Forensic Science, who performed testing on evidence relating to the Z.N. case (*Id.* at 197:15-202:8);
- 6. Kelly Loynes, a forensic scientist for the Virginia Department of Forensic Science who performed testing on evidence relating to the Z.N. case (*Id.* at 202:13-206:8);
- 7. Nathan Himes, a forensic scientist for the Virginia Department of Forensic Science who tested Ronald Berton's known DNA sample for the Z.N. case (*Id.* at 206:11-214:21);
- 8. Jieffa Jones, a forensic lab specialist at the Virginia Department of Forensic Science who tested Ronald Berton's known sample for the Z.N. case (3/10/20 Tr. at 23:8-27:2).

As in the first two trials, the defense did not present any evidence of its own.

During its closing argument, the Government made full use of the "other crimes" evidence to bolster its case. It highlighted the violent nature of the A.W. incident as proof that Mr. Berton intended to use force in S.N.'s case and the fact that the perpetrator stole A.W.'s phone after the encounter. (*Id.* at 88:3-91:8.)

And the Government initially sought to use the Z.N. evidence as proof that S.N. had, in fact, locked her doors and that Mr. Berton had overcome those locks, reversing the position it had taken in the first two trials that S.N. had forgotten to lock her doors that night:

[Z.N.] came in here and told you that on that date in 2008, she woke up and found a man in her apartment. He said he came in through the door, which was locked, and he unlocked it. That's what he said to her. And so when you're in the back wondering how did the defendant get in, [S.N.] said she didn't remember whether she had locked her door, but it was her habit to lock it. And you would think that normally if you live in a ground level apartment you'd want to lock up. It's important to do that. That's why you have this evidence, to show that the defendant knew how to unlock locked doors.

(*Id.* at 91:9-21.)

In its closing, the defense again argued that the government did not present sufficient evidence that Mr. Berton's encounter with S.N. was not consensual, highlighting S.N.'s lack of injuries and S.N.'s inability to remember whether she had locked her doors. (*Id.* at 96:8-18-100:16.) As for the other crimes evidence, the defense noted the locks to S.N.'s apartment were very different from the locks

in Z.N.'s Arlington apartment. (*Id.* at 100:20-101:14.) And the defense argued that the DNA evidence was insufficient to tie Mr. Berton to the A.W. incident because the statistical analysis failed to meet certain accepted reliability thresholds. (*Id.* at 101:15-102:21.)

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