BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Nos. 23-CF-286 & 23-CF-287

RONALD PERRY BERTON,

v.

## UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

> MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

> CHRISELLEN R. KOLB AMY ZUBRENSKY STUART ALLEN KATHLEEN A. KERN

\* DAVID B. GOODHAND, D.C. Bar #438844 Assistant United States Attorneys

 Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 david.goodhand2@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. Nos. 2016-CF1-17914 & 2019-CF1-3141



Clerk of the Court Received 05/02/2024 10:28 AM Resubmitted 05/02/2024 11:47 AM Filed 05/02/2024 11:47 AM

Appellant,

Appellee.

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

the request for a final disposition of charges, irrespective of the means by which the custody of the prisoner is obtained." *Id.* at 108.<sup>21</sup>

*Felix*'s holding is consistent with the IAD's plain terms. Article III(a)'s 180day limitation "is triggered simply by the accused's request for a final disposition of pending charges; the language does not insinuate that his presence in the foreign state must have been gained through his own efforts." *Fisher v. State*, 357 S.W.3d 115, 117 (Tex. Ct. App. 2011); see Art. III(a) ("he shall be brought to trial within one hundred eighty days after he shall have caused to be delivered to the prosecuting authority and the appropriate court . . . written notice of the place of his imprisonment and his request for final disposition"). In contrast, a "fair reading" of Article IV(c)'s "made possible" language, see n.13 supra, "suggests it contemplates a situation wherein the accused's presence in the forum was garnered through the unilateral actions of the requesting state or 'appropriate officer." *Fisher*, 357 S.W.3d at 117. "So, when the accused also invokes the procedures made available

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> In *Bailey*, for example, the trial court applied Article III(a)'s 180-day limitation even where the U.S. Marshal Service "never forwarded" the prisoner's trial-demand forms "to the United States Attorney for the District of Columbia, the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, or any other official in the District" but the prisoner was "later brought to the District of Columbia on a writ of habeas corpus *ad prosequendum*, issued by the Superior Court on the [DC-USAO's] petition." 495 A.2d at 757-58. In *Bailey*, like here, it thus appears that the DC-USAO acted independently of the prisoner's IAD demand when it sought a writ. Nonetheless, the trial court applied "the 180-day time limit of Article III." *Id.* at 758.

to him under the statute, it is not necessarily true that his presence in the receiving state was 'made possible' by the prosecutor's conduct for purposes of Article IV." *Id.* 

Berton triggered Article III(a)'s 180-day limitation when – by means of his IAD trial-demand form – he gave "notice of his place of imprisonment," "request[ed]" final disposition of his D.C. charges, and then "caused" Virginia authorities to deliver his demand to the DC-USAO and D.C. Superior Court on December 5. Art. III(a). In contrast, though the DC-USAO – apparently without knowledge of Berton's IAD demand – prepared its writ on the same date, it was not signed by Judge Lopez (i.e., made operative) until two days later. Accordingly, the trial court properly concluded, Article III applied. *See Felix*, 508 A.2d at 107 (rejecting appellant's claim Article IV "applicable because it was the government which ultimately procured [appellant's] presence by means of a writ").<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Consistent with *Felix, Bailey*, and *Fisher*, several courts have held that "the defendant's Article III filing implicitly and automatically waives those Article IV procedures favorable to the defendant." *Hopkins v. LaFortune*, 394 P.3d 1283, 1286 (Ok. Ct. Crim. App. 2016); *see also Matthews v. Commonwealth*, 168 S.W.3d 14, 18-19 (Ky. 2005) (same). Indeed, both *Hopkins* and *Matthews* held Article III(a)'s 180-day limitation applied even though, in each case, the State's temporary-custody request *predated* the defendant's IAD demand. *See Hopkins*, 394 P.3d at 1285; *Matthews*, 168 S.W.3d at 19. Yet other courts have held the determinative factor is which Article was invoked first, an approach that would similarly mandate affirmance here. *See State v. Webb*, 570 N.W.2d 913, 915 (Iowa 1997); *Shewan v. State*, 396 So.2d 1133, 1134 (Fla. Ct. App. 1980). Finally, some courts have "used the limitations period which terminated first to determine the defendant's speedy (continued...)

## D. Even If Article IV(c)'s Limitation Applied, Berton Waived It By Agreeing to a Trial Beyond 120 Days.

Alternatively, a defendant – such as Berton – waives his right to a speedy trial under the IAD by agreeing to a trial that comes after the expiration of the applicable IAD period. See New York v. Hill, 528 U.S. 110 (2000). In Hill, an Ohio prisoner invoked his Article III right under the IAD by delivering to the New York prosecutor and court his request for disposition of a murder charge. Id. at 112; see People v. Hill, 92 N.Y.2d 406, 408 (N.Y. Ct. App. 1998). Defendant's counsel thereafter filed several motions that tolled the 180-day limitation and, by the time the parties met to set a trial date, "167 nonexcludable days" had elapsed. Hill, 528 U.S. at 112-13; see Hill, 92 N.Y.2d at 410. Nonetheless, defendant's counsel agreed to a trial date, which, if the "subsequent time period was chargeable to the State," was beyond the IAD's 180-day limitation. Hill, 528 U.S. at 113. When the defendant thereafter moved to dismiss his indictment because the "IAD's time limit had expired," the trial court thus declined, reasoning that "counsel's explicit agreement to the trial date set beyond the 180-day statutory period constituted a waiver or abandonment of defendant's rights under the IAD."" Id. (citation omitted).

trial right under the IAD." *State v. Willoughby*, 927 P.2d 1379, 1386 (Haw. 1996); *see also State v. Almly*, 162 P.3d 680, 684 (Az. Ct. App. 2007). For the reasons outlined at pp. 16-19 supra, however, this Court should reject this minority position, which conflicts with the IAD's text.

The Supreme Court agreed. "What suffices for waiver depends on the nature of the right at issue." *Hill*, 528 U.S. at 114. "'Although there are basic rights that the attorney cannot waive without the fully informed and publicly acknowledged consent of the client, the lawyer has – and must have – full authority to manage the conduct of the trial." *Id.* at 114-15 (citation omitted). Because "[s]cheduling matters are plainly among those for which agreement by counsel generally controls," *Hill* held that "defense counsel's agreement to a trial date outside the time period required by Article III of the [IAD] bar[red] the defendant from seeking dismissal because trial did not occur within that period." *Id.* at 111, 115.<sup>23</sup>

Per *Hill*, Berton's counsel's agreement to a trial outside the 120-day period waived his statutory right to a speedy trial pursuant to the IAD.<sup>24</sup> As Berton concedes (at 22), excluding the "41 days for plea negotiations" between February 17 and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See also Gonzalez v. United States, 553 U.S. 242, 249 (2008) (Hill held that an "attorney, acting without indication of particular consent from his client, could waive his client's statutory right to a speedy trial pursuant to the [IAD]"); Reed v. Farley, 512 U.S. 339, 342 (1994) ("We hold that a state court's failure to observe the 120-day rule of IAD Article IV(c) is not cognizable under § 2254 when the defendant registered no objection to the trial date at the time it was set, and suffered no prejudice attributable to the delayed commencement.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Though *Hill* found a waiver of Article III's 180-day limitation, its reasoning applies equally to Article IV and numerous courts have so held. *See, e.g., United States v. McIntosh*, 514 Fed. App'x 783, 795 (10th Cir. 2013); *Kirvin v. State*, 394 S.W.3d 550, 557 (Tex. Ct. App. 2011); *Parks v. Commonwealth*, 89 S.W.3d 395, 397 (Ky. 2002); *Toro v. State*, 479 So.2d 298, 299 (Fla. Ct. App. 1985); *Commonwealth v. Jones*, 886 A.2d 689, 698 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2005).

March 30, 2017, 36 days had already elapsed by the time the parties met on March 30 to schedule Berton's trial. Nonetheless, Berton's counsel proposed a July 5 trial date, which was outside the 120-day period.<sup>25</sup> Moreover, at several hearings thereafter, Berton's counsel expressly reaffirmed the defense's desire for a July 5 trial (see 4/13/17:9-11; 6/2/17:9; 6/14/17:8-11). Berton thus "had [three] clear chances to alert the trial court in open court if he indeed wanted his trial to start on or before" June 20, 2017 (i.e., within Article IV(c)'s 120-day limitation), but he "let [those] opportunities pass by." *Reed*, 512 U.S. at 350. Berton was thus barred from later "seeking dismissal because trial did not occur within that period," *Hill*, 528 U.S. at 111, and the trial court properly denied his motion to dismiss.<sup>26</sup>

Nor did Berton adequately preserve his IAD demand when counsel "orally raised his IAD rights on June 2nd," as Berton suggested below (6/30/17:27-28). Indeed, at that June 2 trial-readiness hearing, Berton's counsel – that is, the person

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> That is, even assuming – as Berton suggests (at 22-23) – the entire period following March 30 was chargeable to the government, the 120-day clock expired on June 20, 2017. See Berton Br. at 23 ("By [July 13, 2017], after deducting the 41 days that were tolled for plea negotiations, *143 days had elapsed* since Mr. Berton's arrival in D.C. [on January 11, 2017], which far exceeds the 120-day time limit set by Article IV(a) [sic] of the IAD.") (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Though the trial court did not rely on Berton's waiver when it denied his motion, "it has long been held that an appellate court may uphold a trial court decision for reasons other than those given by that court." *Prince v. United States*, 825 A.2d 928, 931 (D.C. 2003). Moreover, there is no procedural unfairness because the government argued waiver below (R1.71 at 4; 6/30/17:20-22), and Berton responded (6/30/17 Reply at 6-7; 6/30/17:27-28).

with "'full authority to manage the conduct of the trial," *Hill*, 528 U.S. at 114-15 (citation omitted) – not only reaffirmed the defense's desire for a July 5 trial but detailed the defense's readiness. Counsel thus noted "we are preparing for trial on July 5th," assured the court that the defense's DNA testing would not delay that trial, and indicated the defense would call three-to-six witnesses at the July 5 trial (6/2/17:9-12, 25).

Moreover, although Berton himself apparently asked his counsel to raise the IAD at the June 2 hearing, even he did not suggest the July 5 trial should be moved up. Instead, through counsel, he "ask[ed] the Court to grant him relief because the [IAD] *has been violated*" (6/2/17:23 (emphasis added)).<sup>27</sup> But as Berton's counsel essentially conceded when simultaneously raising his separate § 23-1322(h)(1) claim, the 41 excludable days meant the 120-clock hadn't run by June 2 and the IAD thus hadn't "been violated" (6/2/17:23).<sup>28</sup> Further, when the government thereafter moved to continue the July 5 trial, once again neither Berton nor his counsel asked the court to move his trial up. To the contrary, Berton's counsel reiterated that the defense would be "ready to go" on July 5 (6/14/17:11). It was only "on the 12[7]th

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Berton thus did not – as he now contends (at 4, 22) – "assert[] his right to a speedy trial under the IAD at the status hearing." Rather, he claimed only that his right had *already* been "violated" (6/2/17:23).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> As defense counsel explained, "*Mr. Berton believes* he has been held outside of the 100 statutory days that are required to bring him to trial, *even notwithstanding the defendant's waiver of time*" (6/2/17:23) (emphasis added).

*day*, when it was no longer possible to meet Article IV(c)'s deadline," that Berton finally "produced his meticulously precise" Motion To Dismiss Indictment with Prejudice for Failure to Provide a Speedy Trial Pursuant To Interstate Agreement on Detainers, *Reed*, 512 U.S. at 350-51; see R1.70 (dated: June 27, 2017); *see generally Reed*, 512 U.S. at 349 ("When a defendant obscures Article IV(c)'s time prescription and avoids clear objection until the clock has run, cause for collateral review scarcely exists."); *United States v. Dowdell*, 595 F.3d 50, 64 (1st Cir. 2010) ("We do not look favorably on IAD arguments that are not raised until the trial judge is no longer in a position to avoid a violation.").

In sum, while the trial court theoretically could have adhered to Article IV(c) on June 2 by moving Berton's trial to June 20, neither Berton nor his counsel ever asked for that. Instead, Berton's counsel reiterated a desire for a July 5 trial and Berton claimed only that the 120-day clock had already expired. Contrary to Berton's suggestion below, then, his June 2 statement did not constitute a revocation of the IAD waiver his counsel had effected two months earlier when she proposed a trial date outside Article IV(c)'s 120-day limitation.<sup>29</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> In any event, "even waivers of fundamental trial rights are typically not subject to revocation as a matter of right." *Reyes v. People*, 195 P.3d 662, 666 (Colo. 2008); *see also Brooks v. United States*, 993 A.2d 1090, 1093-95 (D.C. 2010) (same). "For no other reasons than scheduling and orderly administration of the proceedings, once a right has been effectively waived, that waiver can be revoked and the waived right reclaimed only in the discretion of the court." *Reyes*, 195 P.3d at 666; *see also Sparks* (continued . . . )

# E. The Trial Court Did Not Plainly Err in Failing *Sua Sponte* To Find a Violation of Article V.

Finally, Berton claims (at 19, 37-41), his 2019 case should be dismissed because of a separate IAD violation. Specifically, in a rather convoluted claim – which we liberally quote to ensure its accuracy – Berton asserts (at 19) his "2016 case should have been dismissed in July 2017 because of the violation of the speedy trial provision in[] Article IV(a) [sic: IV(c)] of the IAD, and [he] should have then been promptly returned to Virginia pursuant to Article V."<sup>30</sup> And, his argument continues (at 19), "[i]n that event, when he was indicted two years later in the 2019

*v. United States*, 358 A.2d 307, 311 (D.C. 1976) (same). And "[w]hether or not a court might, under some set of circumstances, be held to have abused its discretion in refusing to permit a defendant to reclaim the protections of the [IAD], it is enough here that such an abuse could not occur in the complete absence of a motion to revoke the defendant's prior waiver and an adverse ruling by the court." *Reyes*, 195 P.3d at 666. Moreover, Berton's demands for a speedy trial pursuant to D.C. Code  $\S$  23-1322(h)(1) did not preserve his IAD claim. Those statutes prescribe different time limitations with different triggering mechanisms. *See Dowdell*, 595 F.3d at 65-66 (distinguishing *United States v. Mauro*, 436 U.S. 340, 364-65 (1978), where the Court held a pro se defendant's failure to invoke the IAD in "specific terms" in his speedy-trial motions didn't waive his Article IV(c) claim because of the "precise identity" between the prejudice he claimed in his motions – viz., the negative effects on his rehabilitation attributable to his outstanding detainer – and the "prejudice that the IAD targets").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Article V(d) states that "temporary custody . . . shall be only for the purpose of permitting prosecution on the charge or charges contained in one or more untried indictments, informations, or complaints, which form the basis of the detainer or detainers or for prosecution on any other charge or charges arising out of the same transaction." Additionally, Article V(e) states that, "[a]t the earliest practicable time consonant with the purposes of this agreement, the prisoner shall be returned to the sending State."

case, he would have again been brought to D.C. pursuant to the IAD and would have had Article III or Article IV speedy trial rights with respect to that case." "Instead, Mr. Berton was held continuously in D.C. for six years following his IAD transfer here in January 2017 and was not brought to trial on the 2019 case until 2023, four years after his indictment." "Consequently," his argument finally concludes (at 19), "he was deprived of his constitutional and statutory right to a speedy trial and so the 2019 case should be dismissed."<sup>31</sup> Berton never raised an Article V claim below and this Court's review is restricted to plain error, *Dowdell*, 595 F.3d at 64, which he has not demonstrated.

To begin, as shown at pp. 16-24 supra, the trial court properly declined to dismiss Berton's 2016 case. Accordingly, Berton's argument about his 2019 case – which depends on his claim (at 19) that his "2016 case should have been dismissed in July 2017" – necessarily fails.<sup>32</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> This is Berton's sole reference to a purported "constitutional" violation. He elsewhere argues (at 19, 39, 40) only that the IAD was violated. He has thus failed to properly raise a constitutional challenge.

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